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Primary Construction Materials Masonry, concrete, corrugated fibre cement roofing, 

steel, timber door and window joinery 

Notable Architectural Characteristics Form and scale, length of elevation to Bridgman 

Street, regular rhythm of fenestrations, castellated 

parapet, pilasters, moulding, covered parade ground.  

 

Background to NZ Defence Force 

Te Ara records that  

 

‘New Zealand has had its own armed forces since the early days of European colonisation. The first 

unofficial military organisation was the Kororareka Association (1838–40). Local volunteer forces 

were established in the early 1840s but were disbanded when the Militia Ordinance 1845, which 

authorised the raising of compulsory militias to supplement imperial (British) troops, was issued. 

Imperial troops were stationed in New Zealand from 1840 to 1870. 

 

Volunteer units were established during the New Zealand wars. The first permanent military force 

was the Colonial Defence Force, which was active from 1862. This was replaced by the Armed 

Constabulary, which performed both military and policing roles, in 1867. After being renamed the 

New Zealand Constabulary Force, it was divided into separate military and police forces in 1886. The 

military force was called the Permanent Militia and later renamed the Permanent Force.’2 

 

In 1909 the mid-nineteenth century volunteer forces were disbanded. The 1909 Defence Act created the 

Territorial Force, with the universal obligation to be trained in cadets (under 18 years of age), Territorials 

from 18-21 years (later extended to 25 years). Men were posted to the Reserve until they were 30. 

Territorials were liable to serve in New Zealand only but could volunteer to serve overseas.3  

 

Major-General Alexander Godley implemented the British General Staff-devised new defence scheme in 

1910, dividing the country into four military districts (Auckland, Wellington, Canterbury, and Otago) each 

responsible for training its own mounted riflemen, infantrymen, artillerymen, and specialist and medical 

units. The aim was to create a defence force that would slot into the imperial army.  

 

With the outbreak of World War One, Territorials applied to their commanding officers, while other men 

filled out a form at their nearest Defence Department office or Post Office. They were then called for a 

medical examination. Those who were declared fit to serve waited to be called up.  

 

Each of the four main centres (Dunedin, Christchurch, Wellington, and Auckland) had massive drill halls that 

served as recruiting offices and marshalling stations.  Each recruiting sub-district (16 in 1914, 21 from late 

 
2 Jim Rolfe, 'Armed forces - Historical overview', Te Ara - the Encyclopedia of New Zealand, 

http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/armed-forces/page-1  (accessed 21 July 2023) 
3 'The Defence Act of 1909', from An Encyclopaedia of New Zealand, edited by A. H. McLintock, originally 

published in 1966. Te Ara - the Encyclopedia of New Zealand 

URL: http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/1966/compulsory-military-training/page-2  (accessed 22 Nov 2022) 
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1916) had its own headquarters. At the headquarters enlistments were processed, travel arrangements were 

made for troops, and policed the conscription process. It is in the context of the pressure for recruits in the 

wake of the defeat at Gallipoli that the Otago Drill Hall was built. The 1916 Military Service Act introduced 

conscription. Dunedin’s Kensington Drill Hall is the only one of the four main centre halls to survive.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
4 Bargas and Shoebridge, p. 21. 
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Notable people/Themes 

 

New Zealand Defence Force 

The Kensington Drill Hall was purpose-built and has been in constant occupation by (the now) New Zealand 

Defence Force for close to one hundred and ten years. This is an area for further research and assessment. 

 

 

World War One Recruitment 

One of the most significant aspects of this building is the common experience of those men who entered the 

drill hall – whether as volunteers or as conscripts. This is the place where recruits were medically examined, 

where they drilled, where they assembled before they left Dunedin, and to where they returned. It is this 

general experience that gives the place particular meaning. It is a place of departure to which some men 

would never return. 

 

 

Mason and Wales 

Andrew Barrie and Julia Gatley’s summary of Mason and Wales’ architectural practice is reproduced below: 

 

With its origins in the practice formed by William Mason (1810–1897) in Dunedin in 1862, Mason & 

Wales is New Zealand’s oldest architectural practice. Mason had worked in England and Australia 

before moving to Auckland in 1840, where his outputs included the building now known as Old 

Government House (1855–1956), and then on to Dunedin in 1862, where the discovery of gold 

signalled potential. He set up partnership briefly with David Ross (1827–1908) and then, more 

significantly, with William Clayton (1823–1877). Tasmanian-born Clayton had designed numerous 

buildings there before immigrating to Dunedin in 1863, again attracted by the gold rush. 

 

Mason & Clayton’s key buildings included the Colonial Museum in Wellington (1864–1865), Dunedin’s 

Post Office (1864–1868) and the Otago Provincial Council Buildings (1867). None of these survives. 
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Mason had been elected to parliament in 1861 and then served as mayor of Dunedin (1865–1867). In 

semi-retirement, he lived on a North Otago farm from 1867. Meanwhile, Clayton was appointed 

Colonial Architect in 1869 and moved to Wellington. Mason returned to Dunedin practice in 1871, 

with Nathaniel YA Wales (1832–1903) as his junior partner. Wales, also English, had immigrated to 

Dunedin via Melbourne and worked for Mason & Clayton from 1862 as a clerk of works and then as 

an architect. Mason retired fully in the mid-1870s, and Wales continued the practice. 

 

… Across more than 150 years, the firm’s oeuvre has encapsulated the story of New Zealand 

architecture, most particularly of Dunedin architecture – from colonial-era pluralism and gold rush 

exuberance to the gradual embrace of modernism, the adoption of regional inflections, a return to 

international themes and, now, the response to environmental imperatives.6 

 

 

ASSESSMENT OF HERITAGE SIGNIFICANCE 

 

HISTORIC/SOCIAL 

The building demonstrates heritage values within this criterion. The Kensington Army Hall has historical 

significance for its association with Dunedin’s territorial force, and more particularly for its key role as the 

venue for the recruitment, examination, and gathering place for Dunedin soldiers during both World Wars. 

Built in 1915, the hall represents the reorganization of local volunteer units to a territorial force under 1909 

Defence Act. Of New Zealand’s four main centres, it is the only large drill hall to survive, giving it additional 

historical significance. 

 

SPIRITUAL/CULTURAL 

The building demonstrates heritage values within this criterion. In its layout and use, the Kensington Army 

Hall illustrates the practices and traditions of the Defence Force.  

 

DESIGN 

The building demonstrates heritage values within this criterion.  The Kensington Army Hall has aesthetic and 

architectural significance as massive purpose-built drill hall designed by the important Dunedin architectural 

practice, Mason and Wales. With its 86-metre-long street elevation, the huge scale of the building makes a 

poignant statement about the number of men who passed through the doors in the service of their country. 

Architecturally, it is the sole surviving drill hall of this scale in New Zealand. Although some its architectural 

detailing has been removed or altered, the retains its considerable street presence, and its form reflects its 

function.  

 

 
6 https://architecturenow.co.nz/articles/itinerary-dunedin/  
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TECHNOLOGICAL/SCIENTIFIC 

Not assessed under this value but may demonstrate technological significance for its truss system allowing 

the roof to span the width of the drill space.  

 

 

REFERENCES 

See appended information. 
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Drill Hall in 1915 (Otago Witness) 
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